THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Circuit Court  
Marvin Dukes, Jr.  
Master-in-Equity

---

Case No. 2011-CP-07-2216  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213582

---

Helena P. Tirone and Truman's Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc.....Respondents,

v.

Thomas W. Dailey..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

André Dubose Rembert  
17 Clemson Street  
Charleston, SC 29403  
andrerembert@gmail.com  
843-518-3232

Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED

JUL 11 2013

SC Court of Appeals

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err when it failed to void or amend its summary judgment order dismissing Respondent Tirone when Appellant Dailey promptly provided the trial court a scintilla of evidence supporting Respondent Tirone's individual liability?
2. Did the trial court err when it issued a summary judgment order dismissing Respondent Tirone in spite of the scintilla of evidence of her individual liability present in the record?
3. Did the trial court err when it failed to continue the July 30, 2012 motion for summary judgment hearing in order to allow Appellant Dailey to introduce Respondent Tirone's deposition transcript into the record?
4. Did the trial court err when it failed to grant leave for Appellant Dailey to amend his pleadings to conform with the substantial evidence in the record?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a business dispute between ex-lovers. Respondents Helena Tirone and Truman's Electric Irish Pub, Inc. filed suit against Appellant Thomas Dailey on May 20, 2011. (R. p. 219). Dailey answered the Complaint and asserted Counterclaims on June 3, 2011; this pleading was amended twice. (R. p. 197; 219). On June 25, 2012, Respondent Tirone filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. p. 213(a)<sup>1</sup>). Appellant Dailey was deposed on May 9, 2012 (8 hours) and again on May 16, 2012 (1.5 hours); Respondent Tirone / Respondent Truman's was deposed on July 27, 2012. (R. p. 395).

---

<sup>1</sup> The record on appeal contains two page 213(s).

Tirone's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard on July 30, 2012. (R. p. 339). The deposition transcript for Tirone was unavailable at that time, and Dailey's attorney moved that the hearing be continued to introduce her deposition. (R. p. 341, lines 18-25; R. p. 231, lines 5-11). The trial court denied Dailey's Motion to Continue the hearing without addressing it directly by virtue of granting Tirone's Motion for Summary Judgment by order dated August 10, 2012 (R. p. 13). Tirone's transcript became available on August 21, 2012, and on September 13, 2012, Dailey made a Motion to Reconsider the order granting summary judgment (R. p. 324). The trial court denied this motion by order dated December 7, 2012. (R. p. 18). Dailey filed his Notice of Appeal on December 7, 2012.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Respondent Helena Tirone and Appellant Thomas Dailey met in late 2009 while working for the Fluor Daniel Corporation in support of the Logistics Civil Acquisition Program ("LOGCAP") in Afghanistan, a program that ran the bases for the military in the north the country. (R. p. 218). Tirone continues to work for Fluor at the Savannah River Site. (R. p. 218). Tirone and Dailey became romantically involved, and as a result Dailey shared with Tirone his dream and desire of opening an Irish-themed pub. (R. p. 203, 218). On or about December of 2010, Tirone and Dailey decided to become partners in a joint venture to open an Irish-themed pub known as "Truman's Eclectic Irish Pub" (named after Dailey's pet English Mastiff, Truman) in Beaufort, South Carolina. (R. p. 203, 218). In furtherance of this venture, Tirone and Dailey created a corporation, Truman's Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc. on December 29, 2010. (R. p. 218).

Tirone and Dailey's business relationship was in the nature of equal partners. (R. p. 203,

218). Due to Dailey's relatively modest financial situation, Tirone agreed to supply most of the financial backing and Dailey would supply most of the ideas, energy, contacts, knowledge, and labor (*i.e.* "sweat equity"). (R. p. 203, 218)

As the pub neared completion in April of 2011, Tirone and Dailey's romantic relationship ended. (R. p. 203, 218). Likely as a result of this change in relationship status, Tirone no longer desired to continue the venture as described above and sought to alter the venture to one in which she was the sole owner of the business, and Dailey ran the business as an employee. (R. p. 203, 218). In order to effectuate this change in the venture, Tirone and Dailey entered into a "Key Employee Agreement" (the "Agreement") on May 4, 2011. (R. p. 91-96, 204, 218)

Dailey performed his duties under the Agreement after execution, but the professional relationship began to deteriorate (R. p. 204). During a preliminary safety inspection on or about May 16, 2011, the police arrived and stated a burglary was reported (R. p. 219). Dailey showed them a copy of his employment agreement and a copy of the lease, on which he was the guarantor, and they left (R. p. 219). Shortly thereafter, the police returned with Tirone's counsel and he was removed from the premises (R. p. 219). Tirone's complaint was filed on May 20, 2011, and that was the first time Dailey was informed he was terminated (R. p. 219).

On or about June 19, 2011, Tirone dismantled the business, removing furniture and rendering the location an empty shell (R. p. 219).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### Rule 60, SCRC

Relief from judgment under Rule 60, SCRC, rests within the sound discretion of the Circuit Court, and the Circuit Court's findings will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Thompson v. Hammond, 299 S.C. 116, 382 S.E.2d 900 (1989). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the court's ruling is controlled by an error of law or if the ruling is based upon findings of fact that are without evidentiary support." Browder v. Browder, 382 S.C. 512, 519, 675 S.E.2d 820, 823 (Ct. App. 2009). A circuit court's failure to exercise discretion is itself an abuse of discretion. In re Robert M., 294 S.C. 69, 362 S.E.2d 639 (1987).

### Rule 56, SCRC

An appellate court reviews a grant of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56, SCRC. Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Schmidt v. Courtney, 357 S.C. 310, 316-17, 592 S.E.2d 326, 330 (Ct. App. 2003); see also Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists, 355 S.C. 104, 108, 584 S.E.2d 375, 377 (stating that in reviewing summary judgment motion, facts and circumstances must be viewed in light most favorable to non-moving party). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. Id.

Summary judgment is appropriate where the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id.; Rule 56(c), SCRC. All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the

evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. Id. see also Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 349 S.C. 558, 563, 564 S.E.2d 94, 96 (2002) (“On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.”).

Rule 15, SCRPC

A motion to amend is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Stanley v. Kirkpatrick, 357 S.C. 169, 592 S.E.2d 296 (2004).

## ARGUMENT

*Three days* after taking the deposition of Helena Tirone (the Plaintiff and principal of the other corporate Plaintiff), Defendant/Appellant Thomas Dailey was forced to defend her Motion for Summary Judgment without the benefit of her transcript. Tirone prevailed at this hearing. Had Tirone's transcript been available, or had the Circuit Court considered it after it had become available, it would have been abundantly clear that Tirone was not entitled to summary judgment, as she was a proper individual defendant. The Circuit Court's failure to consider this evidence constitutes reversible error and mandates reversal by this Court.

**I. The record contains substantial evidence that Helena Tirone is a proper defendant, both individually and after piercing the corporate veil.**

The issue underlying both the Motion to Reconsider and the Motion for Summary Judgment are the acts of Helena Tirone that subject her to personal liability. South Carolina courts have outlined a two-prong test to determine whether a corporate veil should be pierced. The first part of the test requires an eight-factor analysis and looks to observance of the corporate formalities by the dominant shareholders. Sturkie v. Sifly, 280 S.C. 453, 457-58, 313 S.E.2d 316, 318 (Ct.App.1984). "The second part requires that there be an element of injustice or fundamental unfairness if the acts of the corporation be not regarded as the acts of the individuals." Id. In determining whether the corporate formalities were observed under the first prong of the Sturkie test, the courts consider eight factors:

- (1) whether the corporation was grossly undercapitalized;
- (2) failure to observe corporate formalities;
- (3) non-payment of dividends;

- (4) insolvency of the debtor corporation at the time;
- (5) siphoning of funds of the corporation by the dominant stockholder;
- (6) non-functioning of other officers or directors;
- (7) absence of corporate records; and
- (8) the fact that the corporation was merely a facade for the operations of the dominant stockholder.

Dumas v. InfoSafe Corp., 320 S.C. 188, 192, 463 S.E.2d 641, 644 (Ct.App.1995). “The conclusion to disregard the corporate entity must involve a number of the eight factors, but need not involve them all.” Id.

Under the second prong of the Sturkie test, the party seeking to pierce the corporate veil must prove injustice or fundamental unfairness if the corporate veil is not pierced. Multimedia Publ'g of S.C., Inc. v. Mullins, 314 S.C. 551, 553, 431 S.E.2d 569, 571 (1993). “The essence of the fairness test is simply that an individual businessman cannot be allowed to hide from the normal consequences of carefree entrepreneuring by doing so through a corporate shell.” Id. at 556, 431 S.E.2d at 573.

During the deposition of the Plaintiff, again, three days prior to the motion hearing, she was asked various questions regarding Sturkie 8-prong test requirements (the court in Sturkie forgot one of the prongs but it was later endorsed by the SC Supreme Court in Multimedia

Publishing of S.C., Inc. v. Mullins, 314 S.C. 551, 431 S.E.2d 569 (1993)). Her answers and documents turned over in discovery show the following:

(1) whether the corporation was grossly undercapitalized:

The Plaintiff acknowledged that outside of her signed loan agreement to the corporation, she did not disburse the amount of the agreement on the date signed but instead:

Q: Did you put in \$125,000 at the start or incrementally?

A: Incrementally.

Q: How did that work? He would just call you and say that he needed more money in the account?

A: No, I put the first \$50,000 in. I guess he would tell me things are running low or something like that, I guess.

(R. p. 397, lines 4-11). The original loan disbursement was not made in full, neither by her testimony nor in documentation provided during discovery.

(2) failure to observe corporate formalities:

a. No financial statement was prepared:

Q: Has an annual financial statement ever been executed for Truman's?

A: Martin did do some balance sheet, something else. I don't recall exactly what it is. It was never signed by a CPA or anything. I don't know if it is valid or not."

(R. p. 413, line 25- p. 414, lines 1-5)

b. No officers were elected.

Q: Were board members ever elected or assigned positions?

A: No, there's only one board member, and that would be me.

(R. p. 403, lines 6-9)

c. No records were kept, other than some receipts that she or an accountant friend of hers or her attorney may have in their possession:

Q: What records did you keep of Truman's other than bank records? Were there any?

A: There were receipts.

Q: What kind of receipts?

A: From things Mr. Dailey bought.

Q: So he would buy things, and then where did the receipts go to? Did he give them to you? Did he mail them?

A: He sent some to Martin, and he gave some to me.

Q: These are debit card receipts and ATM receipts and the like?

A: I don't recall what all they are. All I know is I have receipts.

Q: And you have them?

A: Mr. Twombly has them.

(R. p. 412, lines 2-18)

d. No bylaws were ever executed:

Q: There were never any by-laws or any paperwork having to do with the running of the company that were ever written?"

A: No.

(R. p. 412, lines 19-22)

(4) insolvency of the debtor corporation at the time:

No cash flow model had been prepared:

Q: What was the expected cash flow of the bar?

A: There was never a cash model made.

(R. p. 411, lines 11-13) and she disbursed money solely upon request by the Defendant, whom she claims was not even an employee.

(5) siphoning of funds of the corporation by the dominant stockholder:

The Plaintiff admittedly closed the corporate account and returned the funds to herself outside of the arrangements of the loan agreement she had signed.

Q: How much is currently in the BB&T business account for Truman's?

A: There is no current BB&T business account.

Q: When did you close the account?

A: I don't remember exactly.

Q: What did you do with the funds when you removed them from the account?

A: There weren't any funds in the account. There might've been-- I take that back. There might have been, like, 200 bucks."

(R. p. 414, lines 6-15)

(6) non-functioning of other officers or other directors:

The Plaintiff stated repeatedly that she was the sole owner and specifically the sole officer.

Q: No officers were ever selected? You're the sole officer of the corporation?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 413, lines 18-21)

(7) absence of corporate records:

No records were kept.

Q: What records did you keep of Truman's other than bank records? Were there any?"

A: There were receipts.

Q: What kind of receipts?

A: From things Mr. Dailey bought.  
Q: So he would buy things, and then where did the receipts go to? Did he give them to you? Did he mail them?  
A: He sent some to Martin, and he gave some to me.  
Q: These are debit card receipts and ATM receipts and the like?  
A: I don't recall what all they are. All I know is I have receipts.  
Q: And you have them?  
A: Mr. Twombly has them.  
Q: There were never any by-laws or any paperwork having to do with the running of the company that were ever written?  
A: No.

(R. p. 412, lines 2-22)

(8) the fact the corporation was merely a facade for the operations of the dominant stockholder:

The Plaintiff repeatedly made clear that the corporation had no employees and that she was the sole owner, and, ipso facto, the corporate entity herself in all but name.

Q: Did you ever ask Mr. Dailey to be a part of the corporation?  
A: No, it was capitalized with my money. I was the sole owner of the bar."

(R. p. 395, lines 3-6)

A: I capitalized the pub. I owned 100 percent.

(R. p. 396, line 15)

A: I was 100 percent ownership of the project. It was all my money. I capitalized everything.

(R. p. 405, lines 16-18)

Additionally, in regards to where the Plaintiff was a co-director of another corporation, she initiated action to repossess a van leased to the Plaintiff, without regard to the co-director because in her words:

A: It was my van. I paid for it."

(R. p. 407, lines 19-20)

As she has spoken that way about Truman's repeatedly throughout her deposition, that sheds light on her absolute refusal to participate in the corporate form in anything but name and has repeatedly acted at her personal discretion at all times, (R. p. 406 line 22-p. 408 line 15)

The second prong of Sturkie test simply states that after a sufficient number of the first prong have been shown that "The second part requires that there be an element of injustice or fundamental unfairness if the acts of the corporation be not regarded as the acts of the individuals." Sturkie, 313 S.E.2d at 318. Sturkie also states that "The burden of proving fundamental unfairness requires that the plaintiff establish (1) that the defendant was aware of the plaintiff's claim against the corporation, and (2) thereafter, the defendant acted in a self-serving manner with regard to the property of the corporation and in disregard of the plaintiff's claim in the property." Id. at 319.

Plaintiff Tirone, in July 2011, well after the original answer and counterclaim of the Defendant, did knowingly and admittedly dismantle the business, hiring movers to empty the bar, thereby effectively destroying it:

Q: Did you, in fact empty the bar?

A: A U-Haul company emptied the bar.

Q: After the U-Haul company emptied the bar, what was left inside?

A: Miscellaneous items. I can't really recall what.

Q: Was it mostly an empty shell? You took most of the property out?

A: The things that I recovered under my security agreement were taken out.

Q: You signed a multi-year lease on the property. What was your plan?"

A: To open up a pub.

Q: After you emptied the pub, what was your plan moving forward?

A: I had no plan.

(R. p 410, lines 9-24) She also closed out the corporate accounts, in full knowledge of the claims against herself and the corporation, by the Defendant.

Q: You would say that you definitely shut down the Truman's business account after the initiation of this lawsuit?"

A: Yes.

(R. p. 415, lines 4-7)

**II. The Circuit Court committed a reversible error of law by not vacating or amending its earlier ruling based on newly-discovered evidence of Tirone's individual liability.**

The evidence set forth above from Tirone's deposition was not before the Circuit Court at the July 30, 2012, Motion for Summary Judgment hearing. At that hearing, the Master-in-Equity orally ruled for Tirone and requested a proposed order, which resulted in the Aug 10, 2012 order. When Dailey filed his Motion to Reconsider, he promptly presented the trial court with the evidence set forth above. This evidence creates the necessary scintilla of evidence that would have defeated Tirone's Motion for Summary Judgment. See Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co., Inc., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009) ("mere scintilla" needed to withstand summary judgment). As its prior order granting summary judgment was now invalid, it was incumbent on the trial court to vacate or amend its order. Its failure to do so was reversible error.

The case of Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 544 (1991) is instructive here. In Baughman, the trial court granted the defendant partial summary judgment on several personal injury claims, finding there was no genuine issue of material fact

as to causation. After the grant of summary judgment, the Plaintiffs procured an expert that provided testimony that was relevant to the issue of causation and moved to have the summary judgment orders vacated. The trial court denied these motions, but the Supreme Court ultimately reversed, holding that the plaintiffs had “demonstrated a likelihood that further discovery will uncover additional evidence relevant to the issue of medical causation...” Id.

In this action, Dailey promptly provided the trial court with the necessary evidence relevant to piercing the corporate veil (See Section I). Considering that South Carolina only requires a showing of a scintilla of evidence on the part of a non-moving party to avoid summary judgment (see Section III), Dailey presented sufficient evidence to warrant reversal.

The trial court committed another error of law in possibly ruling that Dailey was not entitled to pursue supplemental proceedings post judgment. In an off-the-record discussion during the hearing concerning Summary Judgment, the court stated that supplemental proceedings to pierce the corporate veil were appropriate against the individual plaintiff to bring her back in, as it were, should the defendant's counterclaims against the corporate plaintiff be successful. The court based much of its decision to grant summary judgment to the individual plaintiff at that time because she could be brought back in in supplemental proceedings and so the issue of piercing the corporate veil was not yet ripe. The court had the plaintiffs' attorney draft the order. The order, as written, seems to preclude the possibility of supplemental proceedings against the plaintiff individually by virtue of ruling relatively demonstratively that facts to support veil piercing must be pled initially:

While there is authority to support the idea that a party is not required to affirmatively plead veil piercing as a separate cause of action (and can in some instances attempt to pierce post-judgment), a party seeking to pierce the corporate veil is still required to set forth basic facts (as well as a request for relief) to put an individual on notice that it seeks to hold the individual liable for the debts of the corporation under a veil piercing theory. Rule 8(a), SCRCP; see also Drury Dev. Corp. v. Found. Ins. Co., 380 S.C. 97, 104, 668 S.E.2d 798, 802 (2008) (finding that only when a party has “pled facts sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss as to the corporate liability claims and the alter ego claim, [should] the trial court move forward to determination of both matters.”)

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