THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge for Beaufort
County

Case No.: 2011-CP-07-02216
Appellate Case No.: 2012-213582

HELENA P. TIRONE AND TRUMAN'S ECLECTIC IRISH PUB, INC..... Respondents,

-vs.-

THOMAS W. DAILEY Appellant.

RESPONDENTS' FINAL BRIEF

J. Ashley Twombly
TWENGE + TWOMBLY LAW FIRM
311 Carteret Street
Beaufort, SC 29902
Telephone: (843) 982-0100
Facsimile: (843) 982-0103
www.twlawfirm.com
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
JUL 05 2013
SC COURT OF APPEALS

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly granted Respondent Helena Tirone's Motion for Summary Judgment

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC." Melton v. Medtronic, Inc., 389 S.C. 641, 650, 698 S.E.2d 886, 891 (Ct. App. 2010). Under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, summary judgment may be granted if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, establish that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. In the instant case, the Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment to Respondent Helena Tirone.

A. Individual liability of Tirone under veil piercing

Dailey first argues that Tirone faces liability based on a veil piercing argument. However, Dailey failed to include any facts to support veil piercing theories or allegations in his Answer and Counterclaim, First Amended Answer and Counterclaim, or Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims. Accordingly, the trial court properly granted Tirone summary judgment in her individual capacity regarding a veil piercing claim.

Rule 8(a), SCRCPP, requires that all pleadings that set forth a cause of action or counterclaim must contain “(1) a short and plain statement of the grounds including facts and statutes upon which the court’s jurisdiction depends, unless the court already has jurisdiction to support it, (2) a short and plain statement of **the facts** showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a prayer or demand for judgment for **the relief to which he deems himself entitled.**” Rule 8(a), SCRCPP (emphasis added). Therefore, Dailey was required to give Tirone notice of “the facts” showing he is entitled to relief and notice of “the relief to which he deems himself entitled.” Watts v. Metro Security Agency, 346 S.C. 235, 550 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 2001).

Further, the claims made in the pleadings establish the issues for litigation. For example, the scope of discovery is limited to subject matter relevant to the subject matter of the pending action. Rule 26(b), SCRCPP. Moreover, it is “well settled” that parties are judicially bound by their pleadings. Postal v. Mann, 308 S.C. 385, 387, 418 S.E.2d 322, 323 (Ct. App.1992). Finally, a party “who has pled one theory should not be allowed to recover upon another.” Blackburn and Co., Inc. v. Dudley, 289 S.C. 415, 417, 338 S.E.2d 151, 154 (1985).

Seeking to pierce the corporate veil is not a cause of action in and of itself but is a theory of liability. Drury Dev. Corp. v. Foundation Ins. Co., 380 S.C. 97, 102, 668 S.E.2d 798, 801 (2008). However, the party seeking to pierce the corporate veil must still provide notice of its theory of liability to the opposing party in the pleadings. Id. at 102, 668 S.E.2d at 802; Rule 8(a), SCRCPP. “[S]o long as the plaintiff has pled facts sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss as to the corporate liability claims and the alter ego claim,

the trial court should move forward to determination of both matters.” Id. at 102, 668 S.E.2d at 802.

A review of Dailey’s Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim establishes that there are no allegations that would put Tirone and Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc. on notice that Dailey was seeking to pierce the corporate veil. There are no allegations that the corporation was grossly undercapitalized. There are no allegations that there was a failure to observe corporate formalities. There are no allegations relating to non-payment of dividends. There are no allegations that Tirone siphoned off funds. There are no allegations of non-functioning officers. There are no allegations relating to the lack of corporate records. There are no allegations that Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc. was a façade for Tirone. There are no allegations that injustice or fundamental unfairness will result if the corporate veil is not pierced. The prayer for relief does not request that the corporate veil be pierced, or that Tirone be held individually responsible for the debts of the corporations. See generally Multimedia Publ’g of S.C., Inc., v. Mullins, 314 S.C. 551, 431 S.E.2d 569 (1993) (requiring that there be injustice or fundamental unfairness if the corporate veil is not pierced and listing factors to be considered when seeking to pierce the corporate veil); Dumas v. InfoSafe Corp., 320 S.C. 188; 463 S.C.2d 641 (Ct. App. 1995) (listing factors to be considered when seeking to pierce the corporate veil); Sturkie v. Sifly, 280 S.C. 453, 313 S.E.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1984) (same). (R. pp. 203-213).

Fundamental unfairness is typically shown when a shareholder financially benefits from the corporate form by receiving a corporation’s profits or other money through a proper or improper shareholder distribution, while the creditor is left to enforce

his claim against an insolvent corporation. See, e.g., Sturkie, 280 S.C. at 453, 313 S.E.2d at 316. Here, Tirone has not received any financial benefit from the corporation whatsoever because the Pub never opened and never produced any revenue. (R. pp. 69-81; p. 219; p. 357, lines 10-11; p. 434, ¶ 33). To the contrary, she has lost over One Hundred Thousand (\$100,000.00) Dollars, and counting. On the other hand, Dailey has not lost financially in the corporation, and in fact has had his child support obligations paid for with the corporation's money. Dailey cannot claim that the loss of his sweat equity constitutes a financial loss because he was on unemployment during the entire time his sweat equity was allegedly provided. (R. 344, lines 20-25; p.372 lines 12-17; p. 426, ¶ 14). Moreover, Dailey is the reason that the corporation is insolvent. Aside from the fact that he was responsible for the management of the corporation, he misappropriated the corporation's funds. (R. pp. 22-25; pp. 26-40; pp. 41-191; p. 375, line 13-p. 376, line 2; p. 376, line 12-p. 377, line 6; p. 399, line 4-p. 400, line 15; p. 402, lines 4-6; p.419, line 15-p.420, line 10;). This is simply not the type of case where Dailey could possibly show that recognizing the corporate form would result in injustice or fundamental unfairness to Dailey.

Finally, it would be legally impermissible to disregard the corporate veil here because the corporate form may only be disregarded to assist a third party. Woodside v. Woodside, 290 S.C. 366, 370, 350 S.E.2d 407, 410 (Ct.App.1986) ("The corporate form may be disregarded only where equity requires the action to assist a third party.")(emphasis added); Sturkie, 280 S.C. at 458, 313 S.E.2d at 319 ("The corporate form may be disregarded only where equity requires the action to assist a third party.")(emphasis added). Here, Dailey alleges that he and Tirone were "partners in a joint venture" and

were “equal partners.” (R. p. 218; pp. 221-222). Dailey also testified in his deposition that “in my eyes I was a partner.” (R. p. 365, lines 9-12). Therefore, a veil piercing claim would have failed as a matter of law, had it been properly asserted.

Since Dailey’s Second Amended Complaint and Counterclaims did not contain any allegations to put Respondents on notice that Dailey would raise the theory of piercing the corporate veil, since Dailey cannot show fundamental unfairness, and since Dailey is by his own allegations is not a third-party to the corporation, the Circuit Court properly granted Tirone summary judgment in her individual capacity.

B. Individual liability of Tirone under employment contracts.

Dailey asserts in the title of Argument I that “the record contains substantial evidence that Helena Tirone is a proper defendant, both individually and after piercing the corporate veil,” suggesting that the Circuit Court improperly granted Tirone summary judgment as to her individual liability under two Key Employee Employment Contracts. However, Dailey fails to provide any argument to support the assertion. Therefore, Dailey has waived any argument related to Tirone’s individual liability under the employment contracts. See Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR (requiring argument of each issue in an appellant's brief to include discussion of the issue as well as citations to authority); Guinan v. Tenet Healthsystems of Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C. 48, 54 n.4,677 S.E.2d 32,36 n.4 (Ct. App. 2009) (deeming an issue waived on appeal if it is not argued in the appellant’s brief). Nevertheless, even if Dailey has not waived such an argument, the argument has no merit.

A review of the Key Employee Employment Contracts establishes that the contracts were entered into between “Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc.,” and “Thomas

W. Dailey.” (R. pp. 83-88; pp. 254-257). The contracts specify that Respondent, Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc., is the Employer. (R. pp. 83-88; pp. 254-257). Tirone signed the contracts as the “Owner, President & CEO, Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc.” (R. pp. 83-88; pp. 254-257). Further, Dailey conceded and confirmed that the Key Employee Employment Agreements were between him and Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc.: “Q: Would you agree with me, Mr. Dailey, that both of these agreements as stated in paragraph 1 of both agreements are between Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc., employer, and Thomas W. Dailey, employee? A: Yes.” (R. p. 366, lines 15-20).

A review of the Key Employee Employment Contracts and the testimony of Dailey establishes that the contracts were between Dailey and Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc., only. Accordingly, the Circuit Court did not err in granting summary judgment to Tirone.³

II. The Circuit Court properly denied Dailey’s Rule 60(b) Motion since there is no newly discovered evidence.

The decision to grant or deny a motion made under Rule 60, SCRCP, lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. Accordingly, an appellate court’s standard of review is limited to determining whether the trial court abused its discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs only where the trial court’s order is controlled by an error of law or where the order is

³ While the Key Employee Employment Contracts unambiguously establish that the parties to the contracts are Dailey and Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc., if there is any ambiguity, it must be construed against Dailey. Dailey testified in his deposition that he downloaded and modified the Key Employee Employment Contracts. The modifications included inserting information into the contract form. Dailey stated that no other person made any changes to the Key Employee Employment Contracts. (R. p. 358, line 17-p. 359, line 25). Accordingly, any ambiguities would be construed against Dailey, the drafter of the contracts. See, e.g., Duncan v. Little, 384 S.C. 420, 682 S.E.2d 788 (2009) (holding that ambiguities in a contract are construed against the drafting party); Williams v. Teran, Inc., 266 S.C. 55, 221 S.E.2d 526 (1976)(same).

based on factual conclusions that are without any evidentiary support. See McClurg v. Deaton, 380 S.C. 563, 671 S.E.2d 563 (Ct. App. 2008).

To obtain relief from a judgment based on newly discovered evidence, the moving party must establish that the newly discovered evidence: “(1) is of such magnitude that had the court known of it earlier, the outcome would likely have been different; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before the trial; (4) is material to the issue; **and** (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.” Spreeuw v. Barker, 385 S.C. 45, 62-63, 682 S.E.2d 843, 852 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added). Dailey failed to show that he could meet any element, much less all of the elements.

A. The purported newly discovered evidence was not of the magnitude to change the outcome

First, Dailey failed to show that Tirone’s deposition transcript was “of such magnitude that had the court known of it earlier, the outcome would likely have been different.” Spreeuw, 385 S.C. at 62-63, 682 S.E.2d at 852. Dailey’s deposition testimony conclusively shows that he has no evidence to support a veil piercing claim. For example, with respect the capitalization of the corporation, Dailey testified that “Tirone contributed a sufficient amount of money to conduct the business of [the corporation].” (R. p. 350, lines 22-25). While Dailey argues on appeal that the corporation did not have functioning officers and directors, he testified under oath that the corporation had “functioning officers and directors” (R. p. 355, lines 4-6). While Dailey argues on appeal that there were no corporate records and that the corporation never had meetings, Dailey testified during his deposition that there were “corporate records,” that he attended “the Corporation’s first Board Meeting,” and “minutes were

taken of meetings.” (R. p. 355, lines 7-10; pp. 429, ¶ 20). Dailey agreed during his deposition that he believed all of the corporate formalities as far as “having meetings, having a separate checking account, going to talk with an accountant, all of the things that needed to be done to have a real functioning corporation were done” or were on their way to being done. (R. p. 352, lines 18-24; p.353, line 22-p. 354, line 6). Dailey testified that he did not have any evidence that Tirone misappropriated money from the corporation. (R. p. 355, lines 16-19). Dailey testified that he did not have any evidence that Tirone inappropriately “siphoned away, embezzled, or mismanaged money of the corporation for her own personal interest.” (R. p. 356, lines 6-10). Dailey agreed that he was not taking the position in the litigation that “this corporation was merely a façade for Helena Tirone” and agreed that it was “an actual functioning corporation.” (R. p. 356, lines 11-15). “It is a general rule that a party is concluded by his own testimony which is favorable to the adverse party.” Lytle v. Reagan, 256 S.C. 269, 273, 182 S.E.2d 302, 304 (1971). Therefore, nothing in Tirone’s deposition would have changed the ultimate outcome.

B. The purported newly discovered evidence was not “discovered” since the hearing

The deposition testimony of a party opponent is not the type of evidence that can serve as “newly discovered evidence” under Rule 60(b). Dailey knew or should have known that he could depose Tirone and use her deposition to properly prosecute his counterclaims. It simply does not pass muster to argue that Tirone’s deposition transcript was “newly discovered evidence.”

C. The purported newly discovered evidence could have been discovered before the hearing

Even if the deposition transcript of a party can be considered “newly discovered” evidence as contemplated by Rule 60(b), the deposition transcript for Tirone could have been discovered before the summary judgment hearing and was in fact known before the summary judgment hearing. Newly discovered evidence is evidence “which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b).” Southeastern Housing Foundation v. Smith, 380 S.C. 621, 636-37, 670 S.E.2d 680, 688 (Ct. App. 2008). Pursuant to Rule 30(a)(1), SCRCF, Dailey had the ability to notice the deposition of Tirone after the instant lawsuit was filed on May 20, 2011, more than a year prior to Tirone moving for summary judgment.

D. Material to the issue

The deposition transcript of Tirone is not material to the issues as it does not support a veil piercing argument and is otherwise cumulative as set forth below.

E. The purported newly discovered evidence is merely cumulative

The excerpts of the deposition of Tirone contained in Dailey’s Motion to Reconsider are cumulative to the other evidence in the case. Dailey cites Tirone’s deposition to establish the amount of money she paid into the Respondent Truman’s Eclectic Irish Pub, Inc. (R. p. 327). However, the corporation’s bank records were provided to Dailey on or about October 14, 2011, in response to Dailey’s First Request for Production 13. (R. p. 292). Further, the answer to Dailey’s Interrogatory 11, provided to Dailey on or about October 14, 2011, lists the money paid by Respondent Helena Tirone. (R. p. 310).

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